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Old Asbury is boxmded on the west by Walnut Street, on the north by Third Street,
on the east by the back property line, and on the south by the side property line.
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Today it is run by the Methodist Action Program as a community center and continues
in the missionary tradition of the church.

Although modified by its several additions. Old Asbury has outstanding Victorian
detail added in the 1870's. The tin-plate wall coverings in the vestibules and

sanctuary and the ceiling plasterwork and light fixtures in the sanctuary are well
executed and well preserved.
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NAME : 0ld Asbury Methodist Church

LOCATION : Wilmington, Delaware New (as?/e (o
PHOTOGRAPHER: Sue Fox

DATE: April 1976

LOCATION OF NEGATIVE: Hall of Records, Dover, Delaware

DESCRIPTION: North side and facade of 01d Asbury taken
from northwest.

PHOTO NUMBER: 1 I.\UG 2 \976
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NAME : 01d Asbury Methodist Church

LOCATION: Wilmington, Delaware Mew Ca stle (0,
PHOTOGRAPHER: Sue Fox
DATE : April 1976

LOCATION OF NEGATIVE: Hall of Records, Dover, Delaware

DESCRIPTION: South side and facade of 01d Asbury
taken from southwest.

PHOTO NUMBER: 2
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NAME : 01d Asbury Methodist Church

LOCATION: Wilmington, Delaware

PHOTOGRAPHER: Ned He?.te ' New CasHe (o
DATE: July 1976

LOCATION OF NEGATIVE: Hall of Records, Dover
DESCRIPTION: Ceiling detail and light fixture

in sanctuary
PHOTO NUMBER:

PROPFRTY OF THF MATIONAL REGISTER

AUG 2 W76






NAME : 014 Asbury Methodist Church

LOCATION: Wilmington, Delaware Neys Cag#e Cy
PHOTOGRAPHER: Ned Heite
DATE: July 1976

LOCATION OF NEGATIVE: Hall of Records, Dover

DESCRIPTION: Sanctuary of church showing organ taken
from west

PHOTO NUMBER: 4

UG 2 “ﬂs

PROPERTY OF THE NATIONAL REGISTER
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NAME : 01d Asbury Methodist Church
LOCATION: Wilmington, Delaware MNe¢, (oe¥
PHOTOGRAPHER: Ned Heite Wk ( 4
DATE: July 1976
LOCATION OF NEGATIVE: Hall of Records, Dover
DESCRIPTION: Organ in sanctuary of church taken

from west
PHOT NUMBER: 5

pUG 2 1976

PROPERTY OF THE NATIONAL REGISTER
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NAME: 0ld Asbury Methodist Church

LOCATION: Wilmington, Delaware Neyw Casis G
PHOTOGRAPHER: Ned Heite :
DATE: July 1976
LOCATION OF NEGATIVE: Hall of Records, Dover
DESCRIPTION: Ceiling detail
PHOTO NUMBER: 6

AUG 2 1976

PROPERTY OF THE MATIONAL REGISTER
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THE CHURCHES OF DELAWARE

by

FRANK R. ZEBLEY

Author of “Along the Brandywine”

A bistory, in brief, of the nearly 900 churches
and former churches in Delaware as

located by the Author.

1947




Central Baptist Church was organized by a group who withdrew from
North Baptist on Oct, 2, 1927. They held their meetings in Eden Hall. The
group disbanded in 1929.

The Union Street Baptist Mission was conducted during the period in-
cluding Jan. 1, 1887, at 17th and Union Sts.

The McDowellville Baptist Mission, at 11th and Dupont Sts., was built
and donated to Delaware Ave. Baptist Church, in 1871, by Philip McDowell.
The chapel was dedicated on May 18, 1879 at 3:30 P. M. by the Rev. Isaac
W. Haldeman.

The Third Baptist Church on 12th St., between Market and Orange Sts.,
was organized on Apr. 6, 1858 with the Rev. Samuel Earle, as pastor,

METHODIST

Asbury Methodist Church (M.E.). In 1766, Captain Thomas Webb, a
retired British Army officer and one of the Methodism’'s early missionaries,
preached in a small grove of trees at 8th and King Sts. After a series of these
meetings, the first indoor meeting of Methodists worshipped in the upper
story of Jos. Gilpin's storehouse on King St. wharf. A short time later they
were invited to meet in the schoolhouse of John Thelwell at the s. e. cor. 3rd
and King Sts. Some meetings were also held in the cooper-shop of Geo. Wit-
sill, on Water St. east of Market St. It was in Mr. Thelwell’s school that an
organization was effected. Francis Asbury preached in Wilmington on Aug. 14,
1772 and again on Feb, 28, 1775. Preaching was held at times in the home
of J. Stidham.

Harry, the negro traveling companion and servant of Mr. Asbury, al-
though illiterate, became quite famed for his preaching in Wilmington and
at other places, On May 12, 1789, a lot of land near the s. e. cor. 3rd and
Walnut Sts. was purchased as a site for a church, from Caleb Way, for 105
pounds.

The corner-stone was laid in the summer of 1789 and the church was
dedicated on Oct. 14, 1789, by Bishop Asbury for whom it was named. On that -
date Mr. Asbury notes in his Journal, "thus far we come after twenty years |
labor in this place.” The church had a high pulpit and a gallery. The Bible
desk was built of open framework and the leader of the singing was seated
directly beneath the desk. When a hymn was announced he would come out,
to lead the singing, after which he would return to his bench. The seats were
of plank with a single-rail back. A partition 4 ft. high extended down the
center of the church, dividing the men from the women. Qutside, a 7 ft. fence
extended from the church to the wall at the front of the property, the men
and women entering through separate gates. To the right ang left of the pulpit
were the “Amen corners” where the oldest members would be seated.

During the first ten or twelve years the members of Asbury were sub-
jected to many indignities and unruly men and boys disturbed all of the meet-
ings. It became necessary for the safety of the members to hold the evening
meetings early so that they could be dismissed before dark. On Sept. 23, 1800,
a resolution was passed appointing a committee to combat this growing evil,
Advertisements, threatening prosecution of the offenders, were placed in the
local papers. These advertisements seemed to have had the desired effect.

The church was incorporated and trustees were elected on May 25, 1802
At a meeting of the trustees held on July 17, 1802 steps were taken to build




a parsonage. The parsonage, built of frame, was erected south of the church,
in the fall of 1802. On June 18, 1808, Hannah Pierce donated 50 sq. perches
of land to the church. On June 21, 1809, the parsonage was surrendered to
the mortgagee, who moved it to the corner, north of the church. On Oct. 19,
1818, Edward Worrell donated the corner lot to the church. The house was
then used as a sexton’s home until 1853, when it was sold and moved to 7th
and Church Sts.

By 1805, Asbury Church had 100 negroes on its roll, who ordinarily used
the galleries during services. The colored membership had become so large
that 1t was felt necessary that they use the main floor for their class meetings.
But their enthusiasm ran so high and some of them were so careless in their
activities that on June 19, 1805, the trustees passed a resolution requiring the
negroes to hold all of their meetings in the galleries. It was during this year
that, through the efforts of Asbury Church, Ezion Church was organized and
built. In 1809, a few of the members, who wished to sit in a group and lead
in the singing, erected a door to one of the benches in the gallery in order to
reserve this bench for themselves. This resulted in a resolution being passed
on June 21, 1809, directing the sexton to remove the door and to keep the
entrance to all benches open to anyone.

In 1811, the length of the church was increased 20 ft. In 1818, the church
was severely damaged by a storm but repairs were made immediately. In 1822,
a building was erected, south of the church, for Sunday School and day-school
purposes. On Dec. 2, 1824, the trustees decided to install sperm-oil lamps to
replace the candles which had been used up to this time. On Mar. 11, 1828, it
was decided to enlarge the church and to have galleries on three sides. In
1829, the infant department built a two-story brick day-school on Shipley St.,
near 4th St. This school was very successful for a time but, burdened by debt,
the building was surrendered, in 1832, to the trustees who converted it into a
parsonage and it was used as such until 1843.

It appears that some of the evening meetings would be continued until
midnight or later. On Jan. 16, 1829, the trustees directed the sexton to close
the building at 10 o'clock, with some exceptions. Space for graves in the bury-
ing-ground would be sold to non-members but members of the church were
not required to pay. In 1826, it was decided that unless a member was paid up
and in good standing, he would have to pay for graves. This decision was
appealed on Aug. 14, 1830, but the trustees refused the appeal.

On Aug. 20, 1832, the trustees decided that men and women could use
the same doors but they must still be seated separately, the men on the left and
the women on the right. Extensive enlargements were made in 1838, includ-
ing two classrooms in back of the gallery. In 1839, one hundred j'ears after
Methodism was organized in England and fifty years after the dedication of
Asbury, a Centenary celebration was held. The religious observance was held
on Sun., Oct. 25, 1839. A modern pulpit was installed in 1840. While the
Rev. Anthony Atwood was pastor, in 1845, the church was converted into a
two-story building with a lecture-room for Sunday School purposes on the
first floor. It was during this year that promiscuous sitting was first permitted.
In 1846, a crsortion of the newly-built roof was blown off but repairs were
made immediately.

In 1851, after a discussion lasting five years, the sperm-oil lamps were
replaced by gas illumination. In 1872, general improvements were made, in-
cluding a recess pulpit. The rededication services were held on Sun., Jan. 19,
1873. The guest of honor was the Rev. Father Boehm, aged 97 years. He had
been Bishop Asbury's traveling companion and served as Presiding Elder of



the Wilmington District in 1813, The morning service was conducted by the
Rev. John Simms, D.D., LLD., assisted by the Revs. J. B. Quigg and A.
Atwood. The afternoon service was conducted by the Rev. Jacob Todd and
Father Boehm gave a short talk. The dedicatory sermon was preached at the
evening service by the Rev. Dr. Simm:s.

In 1885, the building was enlarged and improved after which reopening
services were held on Nov. 8, 1885. The services were in charge of the Rev.
Dr. C. N. Simms and the Rev. Dr. ]J. Richards Boyle. After extensive im-
provements the church was rededicated on Nov. 20, 1898, at the evening
service by the Rev. Dr. B. I. Ives and Pres. Elder Robert Watt. The new
pipe-organ was also dedicated.

On Mar. 27, 1904, after the Rev. H. S. Dulaney had delivered his fare-
well sermon, the congregation gathered around him, when a floor beam
cracked but the floor held and no one was injured. Improvements were made
in 1908. On Oct. 3, 1937, five memorial windows were dedicated.

The Sunday School. In 1818, three of the women members of Asbury
were inspired to open a Sunday School. The Sunday School was organized in
the church but the trustees ruled that only girls could attend as boys were
vandals by nature and would cut the benches and woodwork with their knives,
which they probably would have done, unless restrained. The organizers would
not agree to this but secured the use of a house on the s. w. cor. 2nd and
Walnut Sts., owned by John Taylor, where both boys and girls were received.
Later the school moved to the loft over David Bush's storehouse at 6-8 e.
Front St. The next move was to a frame building at the n. w. cor. Sixth and
King Sts. Sunday school was held in the morning after which the entire
school marched, two abreast, to Asbury Church for the preaching service. The
school grew so fast and the interest was so great that the Asbury officials were
obliged to recognize the work and to promise encouragement.

On July 5, 1819, a meeting was called in the church and a Sunday School
was duly organized with constitution, by-laws and elected officials. On Apr. 25,
1822, the trustees decided to erect a frame building, south of the church, for
the use of the Sunday School. The building was completed on Aug. 2, 1822
and the Sunday School moved from 6th and King Sts. to their new building
in the fall. Meetings were held here until 1835 when the main building was
utilized. A lending library was established on Mar. 13, 1827. By 1837, the
Sunday School had grown to such proportions that two schools had been or-
ganized as No. 1 and No. 2 school, one meeting in the lecture-room and the
other in the auditorium. In September, 1869, the two schools were combined.

St. Paul’s Methodist Church (M.E.) was organized on Jan. 26, 1844, at
the home of Hyland B. Pennington, s. e, cor. 4th and Market Sts. The Rev.
John Kennaday, pastor of Asbury Church, was in charge of the meeting.
Committees were appointed and on Mar. 7, 1844, a church site, on Market
St., above 7th St., was purchased from John McKnight. The erection of a
church was started immediately. The corner-stone was laid on June 4, 1844.
The trustees adopted the pew system, quite an innovation in a Methodist
church which resulted in St. Paul's being called “the silk-stocking church” for
many years. The church was dedicated on Thurs. afternoon, Mar, 13, 1845.

Prayer was offered by the Rev. Mr. Ridgeley and the dedicating sermon
was preached by the Rev. Mr. Kennaday on the text—Psalms 27, verses 4 and 5.
The benediction was pronounced by the Rev. Mr. Wynkoop. The services
were continued on Sunday when the Rev. Levi Scott, A.M., preached in the
morning and the Rev. Joseph Castle, A.M,, in the afternoon. The amount col-



INVENTORY OF THE CHURCH
ARCHIVES OF DELAWARL

b, Fhe
HISTORICAL RECORDS SURVEY

PRELIMINARY DRAFT NOW BEING
'CHECKED FOR FINAL ACCURACY

MARCH 1940

Binder ¥ 1

WORK _ PROJECTS ADMINISTRATION

DIVISION OF PROFESSIONAL AND SERVICE PROJECTS

OLD POST OFFICE BLDG.
WILMINGTON, DELAWARE




Asbury Methodist Episcopal Church, Wilmington (entry 200) on March 17, 1869. Incorporated by act
of the Assembly on April 1% of the same year (Del. Laws, vol. 13, chap. 418). Delaware and the
eastern Shore counties of Maryland and Virginia are included in this conference which is divided into
three districts with district superintendents located at Wilmington, Dover, and Salisbury (Md.)

Missions, many of which have later developed into churches, have been established from time
to time by the conference usually in co-operation with the Board of Home Missions and Church
Extension, a Pennsylvania corporation with offices in Philadelphia (see forthcoming inventory of the
Church Archives of Pennsylvania). Deeds records covering Delaware churches in the name of this
board are listed with those of the conference. The Wilmington City Missionary and Church Extension
Society incorporated in 1900, functioned as a part of the conference, but have been inactive for some
years.

In 1871 a committee was formed to organize an historical society but no action seems to have been
taken until 1864 when a society was formed, whose annual reports are incorporated in the
conference minutes. Minutes of the conference prior to 1900 contain numerous references to camp
meetings but they seem to have declined rapidly after that date. They were seldom separate
organizations but were informal gatherings under the auspices of an individual church or a group of
churches meeting in private groves, the use of which had been granted the church for that purpose.
Nevertheless many were held regularly over long periods of time and a few, notably Rehoboth {entry
298} and Camden Union (entry 276) were separate corporations with their own property.

The conference is a part of the Washington Area. First president was Bishop Matthew Simpson,
1869-70. Present Bishop is Rev. Edwin H. Hughes, 100Maryland Ave. N.N. Washington; D. C. District
Superintendents are Rev. Walter R. Gunby, 2705 Harrison St., Wilmington; Rev. Ernest C. Hallman,
Dover, and Rev. John J. Bunting, Salisbury, Md.

Minutes, 1869--, 17 bound vols. (4 annual books per vol.) in possession of secretary, Rev. John
R. Bicking, Crisfield, Md. Duplicate set in Wilmington Institute Free Library. Records of incorporation
and deeds: New Castle. Recorder’s office; Deeds Record; vol. R2, p. 472; vol. K5, p.254; vol. K14,
p.215; vol. C36, p. 378; vol. B39, p. 64; vol. E39, p. 19; vol. K39, p. 306; vol. L39, p. 193; vol. R39, p.
466; vol. U39, p. 85; vol. E40, p. 66; vol. 140, p. 230 and 360; vol. H40, p. 55; Certificate of
incorporation; vol.F3, p. 67; Kent Co. Recorder’s office, Deeds Record; vol.M8, p. 487; Mortgage
Records; vol. 02, pp. 141, 180 and 337; vol. 04, p. 424; vol. R4, p. 21; Assignment Record; vol. E1,
p. 427. Del. Laws; vol. 13, chap. 418; vol. 23, chap. 86.

200. ASBURY METHODIST CHURCH, 1769--, 3" and Walnut Sts., Wilmington.

Informal open air services held at King and 8" Sts. in 1769 by Capt. Thomas Webb of the English
Army resulted in formal organization shortly thereafter. Services held until 1786 in Capt. Joseph
Gilpin's storehouse on King St. wharf. Then in School of John Thelwell, 3 and King Sts., until 1789
when present building was opened and dedicated by Bishop Francis Asbury. The original plot of
ground on which the church was built was much smaller than the present property. Additional
adjustment lots were secured from time to time, some by gift, and some by purchase. Property on
Shipley St. between High and Queen Sts. (now 4™ and 5" Sts.), was purchased January 1, 1825 for
the purpose of building a school. Property on the west side of King St. just north of 7" was purchased
for a parsonage on January 7, 1843 but being heavily mortgaged and the trustees unable to meet the
mortgage



it was foreclosed and the property soid March 10, 1847. Brick church, colonial style. Circular
balcony for slaves added later and in recent year's exterior stuccoes. Bronze tablet in memory of
members who died in the World War placed on Front of church in 1832, Churchyard contains graves
of many noteworthy early residents. On front wall of church is a bronze tablet erected by the Historic
Commission of Delaware. First settled clergyman, Rev. William Jossup, 1789-80. See: Rev. John
D.C. Hanna, The Centennial Services (Wilmington, Delaware Printing Co. 1889. 295 pp.): Henry S.
Bulany, History and Directory of Pastors of the Asbury M. E. Church (Wilmington, 1903, 71 pp.). Rev.
Charles E. Davis, Asbury M. E. Church vear Book Wilmington, 1934}; articles in Wilmington
newspapers, Evening Journal, Oct. 13, 1924, July 2, 1927; Morning News, Oct. 13, 1924.

Minutes, 1811--, 5 vols.; Register, 1810--, 5 vols.; Financial records, 1807--, 3 vols.; Sunday
School, 1822--, 3 vols.; in church office. Record of members in 1803 and also list of charter members
is contained in Scharf History of Delaware, vol. 2. A few marriage records, 1788- 89, are found in the
same vol. Copy of tombstone inscriptions in churchyard, prepared by Historical Records Survey 1938,
in State Archives. Records of incorporation and deeds: New Castle Co. Recorder’s office, Deeds
Record: vol. $3, p. 170; vol. V2 p. 541; vol. E2, p. 635; vol. G3, p. 16; vol. U3, p. 220; vol. Z3, p. 313;
vol. B4, pp. 77 and 423; vol. G4, p. 291; vol. K5, p. 355; vol. U5, p. 13; vol. R12, p. 133; vol. D20, p.
169; vol.D29, p.335; vol. M30, p. 572; vol. V33, p. 32.

201. MOUNT LEBANON METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, 1774~ 1/8" of a mile N. of
Rockland,

Organized 1774. For many years it was part of Chester Circuit. Services were held in private
homes, 1774-1834. Present building was dedicated 1834. it is a one story stone structure with tower,
belles and eight stained glass memorial windows. First settled clergyman, Rev. James W. McGaw,
1868-70.

Minutes, 1834--, 2 vols.; in possession of Elizabeth Murray, R. F. D. 2, Wilmington. Register,
1834--, 2 vols.; in possession of pastor, Rev. Walter E. Fosnecht, Cleveland Ave., McDaniel Heights.
Financial, 1834--, 1 vol.; in possession of J. Ayers, R. F. D. 2, Wilmington. Sunday School, 1834--, 2
vols.; in possession of Hazel Talley, R. F. D. 2, Wilmington. Records of incorporation and deeds: New
Castle Co. Recorder’s office, Deeds Record; vol. Q7, p. 524, vol. 1.20, p. 144; vol. B38, p.185.

202. AVENUR METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, 1777--, Railroad Ave., Milford.

Organized 1777 as society of Methodists. Infernal services were held in the home of Reynear
Williams untif 1789 when a frame structure was erected . Additions made 1790-1800. In 1840 it was
replaced by a one story brick structure. Exact site is uncertain but it is thought to have been at North
and 3" Sts., present church dedicated 1871. A one story brick structure with steeple and bell. First
settled clergyman, Rev. William Ratecliff, 1789-90. See: Theodore Townsend “Historical Sketch of
Church”, in Conference Manual, (Milford, 1890); article in Wilmington Evening Journal, Dec. 18, 1926.

Minutes, 1845--, 11 vols., Register, 1852--, 12 vols.; Financial, 1914--, 2 vols.; Sunday School,
1827--, 12 vols.; in possession of pastor, Rev. Frank Person. Ladies’ Aid Society, 1926--, 1 vol.; in
possession of M. Haswell Pierce. Copy of tombstone inscriptions in old cemetery on North St.
prepared by Historical Records Survey 1938, in State Archives. Records of
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